
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

The City Bridge Trust Committee 

 
Date: THURSDAY, 15 JUNE 2017 

Time: 1.45 pm 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, 2ND FLOOR, WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Alderman Alison Gowman (Chairman) 

Dhruv Patel (Deputy Chairman) 
Karina Dostalova 
Simon Duckworth 
Marianne Fredericks 
Deputy the Revd Stephen Haines 
Alderman Alastair King 
Vivienne Littlechild 
Deputy Edward Lord 
Jeremy Mayhew 
Wendy Mead (Chief Commoner) 
Paul Martinelli 
Ian Seaton 
Deputy Dr Giles Shilson 
Alderman Andrew Parmley (Ex-Officio Member) 
 

 
 
 
Enquiries: Philippa Sewell  

tel. no.: 020 7332 1426 
philippa.sewell@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Lunch will be served in Guildhall Club at 1PM  

NB: Part of this meeting could be the subject of audio or video recording  
 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack



 

 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. MINUTES 
 To agree the minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 11 May 2017. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 1 - 10) 

 
4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 11 - 12) 

 
5. PROGRESS REPORT 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 13 - 16) 

 
6. GRANT APPLICATIONS - STATISTICAL SUMMARY 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 17 - 22) 

 
7. GRANTS AND STRATEGIC INITIATIVES RECOMMENDATIONS AND 

ASSESSMENTS 
 To consider the Chief Grants Officer’s reports on grant recommendations as follows:- 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 23 - 24) 

 
 a) Age UK  (Pages 25 - 30) 

 

 b) LGBT Sector Support - Positive East  (Pages 31 - 42) 
 

 c) LGBT Sector Support - LGBT Consortium   
 Please see item 7b. 
 

 d) LGBT Sector Support - Opening Doors London   
 Please see item 7b. 
 

 e) Oasis Children's Venture  (Pages 43 - 44) 
 

 f) Respond  (Pages 45 - 46) 
 

 g) Royal Court Theatre  (Pages 47 - 48) 
 

 h) Highgate Newtown Community Centre  (Pages 49 - 50) 
 

 i) Jacksons Lane  (Pages 51 - 54) 
 



 

3 
 

 j) Paintings in Hospitals  (Pages 55 - 56) 
 

 k) Toynbee Hall  (Pages 57 - 58) 
 

 l) Centre 70  (Pages 59 - 60) 
 

 m) The 999 Club and Lady Florence Trust  (Pages 61 - 62) 
 

 n) Hackney Music Development Trust  (Pages 63 - 64) 
 

8. TO CONSIDER REPORTS OF THE CHIEF GRANTS OFFICER AS FOLLOWS:- 
 
 a) Grants Recommended for Rejection  (Pages 65 - 70) 

 

 b) Grants/expenditure considered under Delegated Authority  (Pages 71 - 72) 
 

 c) Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications  (Pages 73 - 74) 
 

 d) Variations to grants awarded  (Pages 75 - 76) 
 

 e) Unsuccessful Stepping Stones applications  (Pages 77 - 88) 
 

 f) Progress report: Prince's Trust  (Pages 89 - 92) 
 

 g) City Bridge Trust Communications  (Pages 93 - 106) 

 

9. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS TO BE URGENT 
 
11. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION – That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda 
 
12. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 11 May 2017. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 107 - 108) 

 
13. PIPELINE OF PRO-ACTIVE STRATEGIC GRANTS 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 109 - 112) 

 
14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 

WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



THE CITY BRIDGE TRUST COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 11 May 2017  
 

Minutes of the meeting of The City Bridge Trust Committee held at Guildhall, EC2 on 
Thursday, 11 May 2017 at 1.45 pm 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Karina Dostalova     Vivienne Littlechild 
Simon Duckworth     Deputy Edward Lord 
Alderman Alison Gowman   Jeremy Mayhew 
Marianne Fredericks    Dhruv Patel 
Deputy the Revd Stephen Haines  Ian Seaton 
Alderman Alastair King 
 
Members in Attendance: 
Judith Pleasance 
 
Officers: 
John Barradell - Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Neil Davies - Town Clerk's Department 

Simon Latham - Town Clerk's Department 

Philippa Sewell - Town Clerk's Department 

Kate Smith - Town Clerk's Department 

Karen Atkinson - Chamberlain's Department 

Anne Pietsch - Comptroller and City Solicitor's Department 

David Farnsworth - Chief Grants Officer 

Sufina Ahmad - The City Bridge Trust 

Olivia Dix - The City Bridge Trust 

Jenny Field - The City Bridge Trust 

Stewart Goshawk - Principal Grants Officer 

Becky Green - The City Bridge Trust 

Sandra Jones - The City Bridge Trust 

Jack Joslin - The City Bridge Trust 

Julia Mirkin - The City Bridge Trust 

Kate Moralee - The City Bridge Trust 

Geraldine Page - The City Bridge Trust 

Ciaran Rafferty - The City Bridge Trust 

Shegufta Rahman - The City Bridge Trust 

Tim Wilson - The City Bridge Trust 

Kristina Drake - Communications Team 

 
In Attendance: 

 Joseph Lettieri and Ayse Adil from Parent Abuse and Reconciliation Service 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies were received from the Right Hon. the Lord Mayor Alderman 
Parmley, Chief Commoner Wendy Mead, and Deputy Giles Shilson. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
The following non-pecuniary declarations were made during the meeting: 

 The Chief Grants Officer as a Trustee of the London Emergencies Trust. 

 Deputy Edward Lord as a Stonewall Ambassador. 

 Ian Seaton, Simon Duckworth and Dhruv Patel by virtue of their Livery 
Companies supporting or being involved with potential grants discussed 
during non-public session. 

 
3. ORDER OF THE COURT OF COMMON COUNCIL  

The Committee received an Order of the Court of Common Council of 27 April 
2017 appointing the Committee and approving its Terms of Reference. 
 

4. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN  
The Committee proceeded to elect a Chairman in accordance with Standing 
Order No.29. The Town Clerk read a list of Members eligible to stand and 
Alderman Alison Gowman, being the only Member who expressed her 
willingness to serve, was duly elected as Chairman of the Committee for the 
ensuing year. 
 
The Chairman took the opportunity to thank outgoing Members of the 
Committee, Alderman Vincent Keaveny Stuart Fraser and Stanley Ginsburg, 
and welcomed new Members Alderman Alastair King and (in his absence) 
Deputy Dr Giles Shilson. She welcomed back Jenny Field, Deputy Chief Grants 
Officer, and thanked outgoing Deputy Chairman Ian Seaton for his year in 
office. 
 

5. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN  
The Committee proceeded to elect a Deputy Chairman in accordance with 
Standing Order No. 30. A list of Members eligible to stand was read, and 
Wendy Mead and Dhruv Patel declared their willingness to serve, if elected. 
  
A ballot having been taken, votes were cast as follows:- 
Wendy Mead   1 vote 
Dhruv Patel   10 votes 
  
RESOLVED – That Dhruv Patel be duly elected as Deputy Chairman for the 
ensuing year. 
 

6. MINUTES  
The Town Clerk tabled amended minutes for items 6 (Employment & Disability 
Fund) and 7 (Employment and Mental Health).  
 
RESOLVED – That the amended public minutes and non-public summary of 
the meeting held on 20 March 2017 be agreed as an accurate record.  
 

Page 2



Matters Arising 
Members noted that the reports regarding Support of the LGBT Sector and 
Lord Mayor‟s Show 2017 had been postponed from this meeting to the 
Committee‟s next meeting in June 2017.  
 

7. APPOINTMENT TO THE SOCIAL INVESTMENT BOARD  
Members noted that the composition of the Social Investment Board included 
the Chairman of the City Bridge Trust Committee (or their nominee) and 
another Member of the Committee.   
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman and Deputy Edward Lord be appointed to the 
Social Investment Board.  
 

8. CBT BUSINESS PLAN AND THE CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION 
DRAFT CORPORATE PLAN  
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Grants Officer which presented 
the City Bridge Trust (CBT) business plan for approval as well as an early draft 
of the City of London Corporation Corporate Plan 2018-23, to give Members an 
opportunity to provide feedback before wider consultation on the plan takes 
place. The Chairman advised of a number of corrections in both documents 
regarding the Bridge House Estates Social Investment Fund and the language 
concerning the Charity, and an updated section on Staffing Information was 
tabled.  
 
RESOLVED – That the CBT Business Plan for 2017/18 be approved, and the 
draft Corporate Plan 2018-23 be noted. 
 

9. REPORT OF ACTION TAKEN BETWEEN MEETINGS  
The Committee noted the details of one decision taken since the last meeting.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

10. PROGRESS REPORT  
The Committee received the regular progress report of the Chief Grants Officer 
and discussed the updates provided. 
 
Finance Update 
Members noted that a carry-forward of £4,448,000 to the 2017/18 financial year 
had been agreed by the Chairman of the Finance and Policy & Resources 
Committees via urgency procedures in order to agree five-year grant proposals 
at the May and July 2017 Committee meetings. The Chief Grants Officer 
advised that, as part of the Trust‟s 5 year strategic review to inform the 2018-
2023 grant spend, consideration was being given as to how the approach to the 
grants budget might be improved to support the delivery of high impact, longer-
term grants better, and a detailed paper for the CBT Committee and Resource 
Allocation Sub Committee was proposed. 
 
Human Resources Update 
The Chief Grants Officer advised that, as an outcome of the Rocket Science 
review commissioned by the Trust, the Director of City Philanthropy – A Wealth 

Page 3



of Opportunity Cheryl Chapman was working in-house ten days a month. In 
addition, the Head of Philanthropy Strategy position would be advertised in the 
next few days. These posts would support the work of this Committee, the City 
Corporation, and beyond.  
 
Stepping Stones 
Members were advised that the fourth round of Stepping Stones closed to first 
stage applications on 10th May. 50 applications had been received which would 
be shortlisted next week. 
 

11. CITY BRIDGE TRUST FUNDING STRATEGY  2018-2023  
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Grants Officer which provided 
an update of the work completed for the Strategic Review from February 2017, 
a finalised version of the strategy (called “Bridging Divides”) for approval, and 
details on proposed next steps in terms of recommending the agreed final 
strategy to Court in July 2017. 
 
The Chief Grants Officer thanked the Committee for their commitment to 
developing this Strategy, and to Sufina Ahmad for her work in putting this 
Strategy together and the level of engagement she had secured throughout the 
process. He advised that, across the Corporation and its related charities there 
was approximately £53M a year of charitable giving of which £20M comes 
through the City Bridge Trust. He confirmed that it was the entire Corporation‟s 
responsibility to ensure that this giving was as effective as it could be. A crucial 
part of this was being clear in what we want to achieve and being aware of our 
respective strengths so that we can work together to be more than the sum of 
our parts. Members noted that this strategy reflected that, and was about the 
total asset approach rather than capital alone. The Chief Grants Officer was 
happy that this Strategy aligned with the timing of the City of London 
Corporation considering its own strategy as it presented an excellent 
opportunity to build on the work being done to break down silos and co-ordinate 
all the City Corporation‟s efforts. 
 
Head of Strategic Review Sufina Ahmad thanked David for his introduction and 
thanked the Committee for their continued input and engagement throughout 
the development of the Strategy, and advised that the details of how this 
strategy would be implemented will be designed in the next 6-9 months in 
partnership with Members.  Sufina advised that “Bridging Divides” set out a 
clear strategic direction for the Trust from 2018 to 2023 in terms of its priorities 
and the kind of funder it will need to be, and was ultimately anchored in and led 
by its vision and values: 

1. Inclusion and representation – this challenges us and empowers us to 
think about how we remove barriers that groups that experience higher 
levels of deprivation or exclusion face in working with us.  

2. Care for the environment – this ensures that we continue to encourage 
environmental education throughout our networks. 

3. Early action – this allows us to fund at the acute end of need, whilst 
also continuing to be a strong advocate for creating a society that acts 
earlier to tackle root causes and invest in potential. 

Page 4



4. Collaborative working with Londoners, communities and all sectors 
– this means that we remain committed to working together with partners 
from across the voluntary and community sector and the private and 
statutory sectors, in London and beyond, to support the development of 
new and existing approaches.  

5. To be adaptive, creative and purposeful 
 

Bridging Divides had five different priorities with the intention broadly 
summarised as funding work across a bridge of need and potential, that begins 
where individuals and communities are „surviving‟ and ends when they are 
„thriving‟.  The five funding priorities were summarised as: 

1. Connecting the capital – funding for activities in geographical 
communities in London that are important to communities; helps them to 
(re)build community assets and, in some cases, back projects that could 
result in positively and dramatically changing the prospects of a 
community long-term.   

2. Reducing inequalities – which will seek to tackle inequalities linked to 
matters such as race, gender, and social mobility.   

3. Positive transitions – which will aim to empower Londoners 
experiencing inequalities to make transitions in their lives that are 
important to them. 

4. Advice and support – this will aim to offer funding that can act as a 
safety net for individuals and communities given the ever increasing cost 
of living in London. 

5. Every voice counts - This funding priority presents an opportunity to 
challenge the root causes for the divides that we have identified in this 
strategy, and considers the ways in which we can make London a city 
where everyone can thrive. 

 
Members discussed the strategy, debating some of the wording regarding 
“Reducing Inequalities”, the lack of explicit reference to the LGBT community, 
and the terms used to describe different groups (i.e. „Disabled People‟). Officers 
confirmed that an independent officer had been commissioned to check the 
strategy and ensure the language used appropriately represented the group it 
described, and officers confirmed that the omission of specific references to 
LGBT groups was an error and would be rectified. With regard to “Reducing 
Inequalities”, Members agreed that the current wording was appropriate and 
was underpinned by specific and meaningful detail regarding implementation. 
 
RESOLVED – That: 

a) authority be delegated to the Town Clerk in consultation with the 
Chairman and Deputy Chairman to agree the minor changes as 
suggested at this meeting and any others that arise to refine the strategy 
before it is presented to the Court of Common Council in July 2017; and 

b) the updated strategy be circulated to Committee Members electronically 
before its final submission to the Court of Common Council.  

 
12. EMPLOYMENT & DISABILITY - BRIDGE TO WORK PROGRAMME  

The Committee received a report regarding the specific projects recommended 
for funding in the Bridge to Work programme and confirmed the allocation of 

Page 5



the total amount available. Members were informed that an application from 
Scope was being recommended for funding under the general Investing in 
Londoners criteria as the organisation wished to work with an extended age 
range but the organisation, if funded, would play an active part in the wider 
Bridge to Work framework. 
 
RESOLVED – That: 

a) the allocation of the total £3.3m funds be agreed as outlined in Table 1 
(subject to consideration of the individual reports on the selected 
organisations, which are presented elsewhere in the papers); 

b) the Court of Common Council be recommended to approve any 
individual grants which are above £500,000; and 

c) the report be noted. 
 

13. GRANTS INDEX AND ASSESSMENT REPORTS  
 
13a Bridge to Work  
RESOLVED – That: 

a) A recommendation be made to the Court of Common Council to 
approve a grant of £1,241,568 over four years (£243,716; £562,796; 
£429,804; £5,252) to the Centre for Mental Health to implement 
Individual Placement Support (IPS) in two London boroughs; and 

b) An additional £193,432 be set aside for contingency (equivalent to 
15.5% of the grant sum) to cover any additional or unforeseen work 
over the period. 

 
13b Action for Kids  
APPROVED - £250,000 over five years (5x £50,000) for a full-time Job Coach and a 
programme of employment brokering, travel-training and work-related learning to 
support young people with learning disabilities into and in employment. Release of 
quarterly grant payments will be conditional on satisfactory management accounts 
until such time as deemed prudent. The grant in years 4 and 5 is subject to the 
project achieving satisfactory progress in the first three years. 

 
13c Inclusion London  
RESOLVED – That a recommendation be made to the Court of Common 

Council to approve a grant of £775,000 over five years (£161,000; £150,000; 
£151,000; £155,000; £158,000) for a Project Manager; other key staff; and 
operational costs of the Inclusion London/Action on Disability joint Bridge to 
Work project. The grant in years 4 and 5 is subject to the project achieving 
satisfactory progress in the first three years. 
 
13d Muscular Dystrophy Group of Great Britain and Northern Ireland  
APPROVED - £216,000 over five years (£51,000; £53,000; £55,000; £57,000; 
£60,000) for the Project Manager (3.5 days per week) and other staff and 
operational costs of the Bridge to Work project. The grant in years 4 and 5 is 
subject to the project achieving satisfactory progress in the first three years. 
 
13e National Autistic Society  
APPROVED - £199,000 over five years (£75,000; £39,000; £29,000; £28,000; 
£28,000) to develop and establish an online training resource for autistic young 

Page 6



jobseekers in London. The grant in years 4 and 5 are subject to the project 
achieving satisfactory progress in the first three years. 
 
13f Royal Mencap Society  
APPROVED - £350,000 over three years (5 x £70,000) for an Employment Co-
ordinator, an Employer Engagement Co-ordinator (both full-time) plus running 
costs to deliver the Bridge to Work project in London. The grant in years 4 and 
5 is subject to the project achieving satisfactory progress in the first three years. 
 
13g Whizz-Kids  
APPROVED - £384,000 over 5 years (£49,000; £52,000; £91,000: £96,000; 
£96,000) for the salary and operational costs of the Bridge to Work project. The 
grant in years 4 and 5 is subject to the project achieving satisfactory progress in 
the first three years. 
 
13h ShareAction  
APPROVED - £80,000 over two years (£39,500; 40,500) to meet the cost of a 
full-time Education Officer with project running costs within its Education for the 
Capital in Environment and Finance initiative. 
 
13i Evolve Housing + Support  
APPROVED - £55,000 for a third and final year for a full-time Wellbeing 
Manager plus running costs to deliver mental health support services for 
homeless people living at Evolve Housing + Support units. 
 
13j Terrence Higgins Trust  
APPROVED - £106,400 over 2 final years (£52,350; £54,050) for a full-time 
Specialist Young People's Counsellor and the associated operating costs of a 
young people's therapy service project in London. 
 
13k Heart n Soul  
APPROVED - £90,000 over 3 years (3 x £30,000) towards the Expandable 
project, including the Project Assistant (2.5 days per week) and associated 
project costs. 
 
13l Royal Hospital for Neuro-disability  
APPROVED - £119,000 over three years (£45,000; £39,000; £35,000) towards 
the costs of providing regular sports activities to people living with severe 
neurological disabilities. 
 
13m Scope  
APPROVED - £250,000 over three years (£100,000; £80,000; £70,000) for the 
salary costs and related operational costs of the Starting Line and Kickstart 
programmes in east London, subject to Scope's ongoing engagement in the 
Trust's Bridge to Work initiative. 
 
13n Toucan Employment  
APPROVED - £114,750 over three years (£38,500; £37,750; £38,500) for the 
Salary of a Full Time (35 hours per week) Workstart Project Worker and 
associated running costs. 

Page 7



 
13o Volunteering Matters  
APPROVED - £135,000 over three years (3 x £45,000) for the salary, project 
delivery and support costs of an Inclusion Worker engaging young disabled 
people in volunteering. 
 
13p Her Centre Limited  
APPROVED - £173,800 over three years (£57,500, £57,800, £58,500) for the 
Follow Up Support project, including one full-time equivalent Follow Up Support 
Worker. 
 
13q Parent Abuse and Reconciliation Service  
APPROVED - £108,200 over three years (£37,100, £35,100, £38,000) for the 
salary of a full time Under 10's Children DART Project Manager and 
associated project costs, conditional on confirmation of securing new premises 
in Enfield Town. 
 
13r Children England  
APPROVED - £116,000 over two years (£57,500; £58,500) for a full-time 
Research and Learning Officer and a part-time Network Membership Officer, 
web developments, workshops and the production of research reports for the 
4in10 programme in London. 
 
13s Islington Bangladesh Association  
APPROVED - £51,000 over three years (£16,800; £17,000; £17,200) for the 
part-time salary (21 hours per week) of the Welfare Rights and Debt Adviser 
and associated project costs. 
 
13t Community Southwark  
APPROVED - £100,000 over two years (£50,000; £50,000) for the salary of a 
full-time (35 hours per week) Outcomes Framework Development Officer and 
associated running costs to deliver a monitoring and evaluation programme in 
Southwark and Waltham Forest. 
 
13u One Westminster  
APPROVED - £130,000 over three years (£44,500; £42,500; £43,000) towards 
a 0.6 full-time equivalent post, associated running costs with costs for 
workshops and outreach support. This is subject to the submission of 
satisfactory quarterly management accounts, including the cash balance held. 
 

14. TO CONSIDER REPORTS OF THE CHIEF GRANTS OFFICER AS 
FOLLOWS:-  
 
14a Applications Recommended for Rejection  
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Grants Officer, which 
recommended that sixteen grant applications be rejected for the reasons 
identified in the schedule attached to the report. 
 
RESOLVED – That sixteen grant applications detailed in the schedule attached 
to the report be rejected. 

Page 8



 
14b Grants Approved under Delegated Authority  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which advised 
Members of twenty nine expenditure items, twenty six in 2016/17 financial year 
totalling £915,500 and three in 2017/18 financial year totalling £36,150, which 
had been presented for approval under delegated authority to the Chief Grants 
Officer in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman.  
 
A Member pointed out that the delegations included a grant to Children 
England, who was also a recipient of a larger grant earlier in papers (item 13R). 
Officers confirmed that these were entirely different projects, with the 
delegation falling under the Way Ahead programme, but undertook to highlight 
instances like this more clearly in future agendas.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
14c Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which provided 
details of twenty applications which had been withdrawn or had lapsed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
14d Variations to Grants Awarded  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which advised 
Members of a variation to one grant agreed by the Chief Grants Officer since 
the last meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
14e Wembley National Stadium Trust  
The Committee received the annual update on the work of the Wembley 
National Stadium Trust (WNST), which was run under contract by City Bridge 
Trust. The two charitable trusts worked independently but together, using 
shared experiences and resources to inform and improve the work of both.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
14f The City Bridge Trust Communications  
The Committee received an update on the communications work of the City 
Bridge Trust and thanked officers for their continued hard work.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
14g Report on Learning Visits  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer about two visits 
that had taken place.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received. 
 

Page 9



15. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

16. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS TO BE 
URGENT  
There was no other business. 
 

17. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 
Item No.     Exempt Paragraphs 
18 - 19      3 
20 – 21      - 
 

18. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 
2017 be agreed as an accurate record.  
 

19. PIPELINE OF PRO-ACTIVE STRATEGIC GRANTS  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer outlining the 
pipeline for strategic grants. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

20. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

21. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There was no other business. 
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 3.15 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
Contact Officer: Philippa Sewell  
tel. no.: 020 7332 1426 
philippa.sewell@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 10



 

 

The City Bridge Trust Committee – Outstanding Actions 
 

Item Date Action 
Officer 

responsible 

To be 
completed/ 
progressed 

to next stage 

Progress Update 

1. 22 Sep 2016 

Website 
Phase 2 (making the website more 
interactive) will be implemented in 
autumn 2017. 

CBT team September 
2017 

On track. 

2. 11 May 2017 

LGBT Sector 
Individual reports regarding support 
to the sector to come to a future 
meeting. 

CBT Team June 2017 On track 

3. 11 May 2017 
Lord Mayor’s Show 2017 
Report regarding the Lord Mayor’s 
Show to come to a future meeting. 

CBT Team June 2017 On track 

4. 11 May 2017 

Improvement of Grants Budget 
Report to Resource Allocation Sub 
Committee and the City Bridge Trust 
Committee considering how the 
approach to the grants budget might 
be improved and clarification on 
accounting for multi-year 
commitments.  

CBT Team 
and 
Chamberlain 

September 
2017 

On track 

 
 
 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 12



Committee:  
City Bridge Trust  
 

Dated:  
15th June 2017 
 

Subject: Progress Report 
 

Public 
 

Report of:  
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 
 

 
 

Summary 
 
This is a regular report by the Chief Grants Officer (CGO). Following an introduction 
to the external speaker for this Committee from your grant recipient the Bike Project, 
you are asked within this report to note updates on the following: 
 

 The Work Continues. 

 Strategic Review update. 

 Lord Mayor’s Show. 

 Human Resources team update. 

 Stepping Stones. 
 

Recommendation 
 

a) That the report be noted. 
 
 

Main Report 
 

Introduction 
 

1. You will recall that you have agreed that each of the City Bridge Trust (CBT) 
Committee Meetings will begin with a presentation on a particular aspect of 
the work you support.  Today’s speaker is Jem Stein from the Bike Project.  
The Bike Project has been providing refugees of all ages and backgrounds 
with refurbished bikes, giving them a free, healthy and sustainable method of 
accessing vital services whilst providing skills training on bike mechanics.  
Jem will provide an overview of the work being undertaken. 

 
The Work Continues 
 

2. Whilst we undertake our 5 year Strategic Review (see update at paragraph 4) 
the CBT’s core work continues in every London Borough.  Your CGO 
continues to make Friday visits to see some of the 500+ charities you are 
supporting at any one time throughout Greater London and Members are 
reminded they are very welcome to join any of the visits.   

 
3. Most recently he visited Derman.  Your grant funds the salary of a part-time 

bi-lingual Counsellor and project running costs of a mental health counselling 
service for Kurdish and Turkish-speaking Londoners.  The organisation is 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



client-centred and professionally run with strong relationships with 
mainstream referral agencies.  It also takes a strongly collaborative approach 
and works within different partnerships.  The challenge of this is that a 
relatively small organisation is required to feed service data into several 
different databases (the requirements of each foundered partnership stream) 
– the resource implications of this should not be overlooked.  

 
Strategic Review Update 
 

4. Since your last meeting, your Head of Strategic Review has incorporated the 
changes requested by this Committee to the proposed funding strategy for 
2018 to 2023. Additionally, it has been recommended that in the proposed 
strategy we make clearer that as well as improving the access individuals and 
communities have to philanthropy; we wish to increase the level and 
effectiveness of philanthropy too.   We intend to include this change (subject 
to any other view of the Committee). A final draft version of the strategy will be 
circulated to the Committee in the week prior to this meeting. 

 
5. We have also been working with partners to convert the strategy into a 

publication that can be shared on our website and as a hard copy by mid-July 
2017.  It is our intention to have an easy-read version of the strategy available 
by mid-July 2017 too.   
 

6. In the coming months, your Deputy Chief Grants Officer will be directing the 
implementation of the strategy. This work is being further developed by your 
officer team and will be honed at an officer away day on 20th July. A part of 
the implementation will be how to further commit City Bridge Trust to extend 
its current activities to beyond that of simply grant-making (the total asset 
approach).  Therefore, the Committee is asked to note that as part of the 
implementation you will be asked to consider your Terms of Reference (ToR), 
and any changes that you would like to recommend. These can then be 
considered as part of the usual corporate governance cycle for approving 
Committee ToR which, as you know, are approved by the Court of Common 
Council in April/May annually, having first already being approved by the 
Policy & Resources Committee.   

    
Lord Mayor’s Show 2017 

7. Your officers are working with three current grantees to design a float to 
participate in the Lord Mayor’s Show 2017.  Those grantees are; Core Arts, 
Rambert and the London Symphony Orchestra (who are also one of the 
beneficiaries of the Lord Mayor’s Appeal 2017).  In alignment with the theme 
of Educate, Support, Inspire; our entry for the show aims to provide visible 
representation of how central these items are to the Trust’s aim of tackling 
disadvantage in London.   
 

8. Our float will be a blending of music and dance, working with a range of ages, 
abilities and ethnicities to showcase the best of our diverse city. The design 
for the float will reflect the current five year Strategic Review.  Discussions are 
taking place with Emergency Exit Arts (EEA) having worked with them in 

Page 14



2015.  EEA specialises in outdoor performance work.  Detailed costings are 
almost finalised and will be reported back to Committee. 
 

9. The final costings will be less than £50K and therefore to be approved by 
delegated authority. 

 
Human Resources Team Update 
 

10. Head of Philanthropy Strategy: The advert for this post was circulated on 12th 
May 2017 with the closing date for applications being 1st June 2017. A total of 
43 applications were received for this position.  The interviews will be held on 
14th and 22nd June.  A further update will be provided on the candidate 
appointed to the position at a later date. 
 

11. Grants Administrator: The interviews for the 12 month fixed term Grants 
Administrator role will be taking place on the 9th June.  Applications are 
currently being reviewed and a shortlist for interview prepared. A verbal 
update on the outcome will be provided at Committee. 
 

12. Social Investment Fund Associate:  This post is currently out to advert.  The 
closing date for applications has been set as 19th June.   This Committee will 
be advised when an appointment has been made. 

Stepping Stones Fund 
 

13. You receive regular updates on this grants programme. We launched 
Stepping Stones in 2014 for charitable organisations who wish to prepare 
themselves for social investment, recognising that there is merit in 
encouraging people to think about as wide a range of finance options at a 
time when income is often constrained. For those unfamiliar with the term, 
social investment is finance used to generate both social and financial returns. 
Stepping Stones is concerned with investment readiness and is run in 
partnership with UBS. To date, the programme has disbursed £2.2m to 49 
organisations across three funding rounds, typically supporting business 
development, market research, financial modelling, and piloting new services. 

 
14. This current round of Stepping Stones is the fourth and opened on March 

20th.  We received 56 first-stage proposals with a total value of £2.5m, which 
is comparable to previous rounds. Following an initial review by your officers, 
25 organisations were invited to submit a full case and 31 were recommended 
for rejection (details of these appear elsewhere in today’s papers). 
 

15. Each organisation, whether shortlisted or not, is offered feedback. Those who 
are asked to provide full details of their request have until June 28th to do so, 
following which selection interviews take place at UBS in late July. Final grant 
recommendations will be made in September and a total of £550,000 is 
available. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust 
 

15th June 2017 

Subject: 
Grant Applications – statistical summary  
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants officer 

For Information 
 
 

 
 

Summary 
 

This paper summarises applications received and action taken under your grants 
programmes this financial year, including those recommended for decision to this 
meeting.  63 applications will be dealt with at today’s meeting, including 14 grant 
recommendations and 3 grants to be noted as approved by delegated authority for a 
total recommended sum of £1,960,850.  This leaves £12,611,240 remaining on your 
core budget for 2017/18 and £3,713,000 remaining on the Anniversary funds.  
 

Recommendations 
Members are asked to: 

a) Note the report 
b) Consider the grant recommendations in the subsequent annexes 

 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 

1. This paper summarises action taken and proposed this financial year on grant 
applications received under your Investing in Londoners grants programmes and 
your Anniversary Programmes.  It charts overall spend against your current year 
grants budget, grants made by programme outcomes, action taken on 
applications received and a summary of today’s recommendations.   

 
Grants Budget 2017/18 
 

2. Table 1 below shows the grants budget for the current year; the total amount 
committed at your May Committee and subsequently by delegated authority; the 
amount recommended at this meeting; and the balance remaining. It also 
presents this information in more detail, per programme area.  
 

3. Your meeting today will consider 63 applications, including 14 grant 
recommendations as well as 3 grants to be noted as approved by delegated 
authority, for a total recommended sum of £1,960,850. These figures include 31 
Stepping Stones applications which have been rejected by delegated authority. If 
all recommendations are approved you will have spent 22% of your Investing in 
Londoners core grants budget for 2017/18.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Table 1: Overall spend against 2017/18 budget

Grants budget Grants spend Pending 

applications

% spend of 

annual budget

Original Grants Budget £15,000,000

20th anniversary budget uplift £1,000,000

Write-Backs & Revocations £26,200

UBS contribution £50,000

Carry forward 2016/17 (subject to approval) £166,190

Total Budget Available £16,242,390

Previous Committee meetings

Allocated Stepping Stones spend £5,000 0%

May 2017 £1,665,300 10%

Sub-total approved spend £1,670,300 10%

Remaining budget £14,572,090

Today's recommendations

June 2017 £1,960,850 12%

Total annual spend £3,631,150 22%

Remaining budget £12,611,240

Proposed use of remaining budget

Submitted applications - under assessment £2,750,845 17%

Stepping Stones £545,000 3%

Strategic initiatives £610,000 4%

Available grants balance £8,705,395 54%

Summary

Grants committed £1,670,300 10%

Grants recommended £1,960,850 12%

Balance remaining £12,611,240 78%

Core 2017/18 Investing in Londoners grants budget

Page 18



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Grants budget Grants spend Pending 

applications

% spend of 

annual budget

Carry forward from previous years £2,735,000

2017/18 new budget £2,000,000

Total budget available £4,735,000

Spend at previous meetings

May-17 £4,735,000 100%

Recommended spend today £0 0%

Total spend £4,735,000 100%

Remaining budget £0 0%

Summary

Grants committed £4,735,000 100%

Spend recommended £0 0%

Balance remaining £0 0%

Carry forward from previous years £1,713,000

2017/18 budget £2,000,000

Total budget available £3,713,000

Spend at previous meetings in 2017/18 £0 0%

Recommended spend today £0 0%

Total spend £0 0%

Remaining budget £3,713,000 100%

Summary

Grants committed £0 0%

Grants recommended £0 0%

Balance remaining £3,713,000 100%

2017/18 budget £1,000,000

Balance to be drawn down £1,000,000

Summary

Balance remaining £1,000,000 100%

Additional funding streams

Anniversary programme: employability (20th anniversary budget uplift of 40%)

Anniversary programme: infrastructure support (20th anniversary budget uplift of 40%)

Annual funding for Prince's Trust funding (agreed Oct 14)

Overall Grant Summary for 2017/18

Grants already committed £6,405,300 25%

Grants recommended today £1,960,850 8%

Balance remaining £17,324,240 67%

Page 19



4. Table 3 shows the grant awards you have made this financial year under Investing in Londoners and today’s recommendations 
by programme.1 

 
Table 3: Investing in Londoners awards and recommendations by programme 

  
   

  Number of grants Value of grants 

Fund/Program Year to 
date 

Today's 
meeting 

Total % total 
grants 

Year to 
date 

Today's 
meeting 

Total % 
total 
value 

English for Speakers of Other Languages 0 0 0 0% £0 £0 £0 0% 

Improving Londoners' Mental Health 3 1 4 12% £191,950 £95,000 £286,950 8% 

Improving London's Environment 1 1 2 6% £80,000 £105,000 £185,000 5% 

Making London More Inclusive 5 1 6 18% £708,750 £73,700 £782,450 22% 

Making London Safer 2 1 3 9% £282,000 £17,400 £299,400 8% 

Older Londoners 0 4 4 12% £0 £354,300 £354,300 10% 

Reducing Poverty 2 2 4 12% £167,000 £223,840 £390,840 11% 

Resettlement & Rehabilitation of 
Offenders 0 1 1 3% £0 £90,000 £90,000 2% 

Stepping Stones 0 0 0 0% £0 £0 £0 0% 

Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector 2 0 2 6% £230,000 £0 £230,000 6% 

Strategic Initiatives 0 5 5 15% £0 £1,000,720 £1,000,720 28% 

Eco-audits 2 0 2 6% £5,600 £0 £5,600 0% 

Access Audits 0 1 1 3% £0 £890 £890 0% 

Grand total 17 17 34 100% £1,665,300 £1,960,850 £3,626,150 100% 

 
 
The 28% value of Strategic Initiatives relates to the total spend in the year to date and is a consequence of timing. As your overall 
budget for these is 20% of the total annual value of the core grants budget further spend in this area will be closely monitored.

                                                           
1
 Making London More Inclusive excludes access audits which are shown separately. 

P
age 20



 

5. Chart 1 shows the flow of applications received over the last year and action             
taken, allowing any seasonal variations to be seen. This excludes Strategic 
Initiatives as they are usually solicited rather than open programmes.  

 
 

 
 
 
 

6. Between 1st June 2016 and 31st May 2017, 433 applications were received for 
the Investing in Londoners programmes. Excluding the applications being 
considered at this meeting, 103 applications have been approved, 186 declined 
and 86 are pending. The spikes in applications seen in August 2016 and May 
2017 are due to the closing date for rounds of the Stepping Stones Fund.  
Otherwise applications are fairly evenly spread across the year, which is 
comparable to previous years. 

 
7. There are 10 applications shown as pending and which were received prior to 

and including January. The delay in bringing these to you for decision has been 
due in most cases to the individual organisations being particularly slow in 
responding to requests for additional information. Your officers’ patience in these 
circumstances has been applied as the work proposed is potentially of great 
value. In one case, the organisation has been undergoing some developmental 
changes and your officer has been of assistance in helping the charity through 
this. Often, the assessment process adopted by the Trust can involve an element 
of development and guidance in this way. The 10 applications referred to above 
will be brought to your July meeting for decision. 
 

8. Officers are asking you to consider 63 applications at this meeting, as presented 
in the subsequent annexes and reports. Of these, 14 are recommended for a 
grant and 3 are reported as having been approved under the scheme of 
delegations.  A further 10 are recommended for rejection, and 31 Stepping 
Stones applications are reported to this meeting as having been rejected under 
delegated authority. 3 applications have been withdrawn by applicants and 2 

Page 21



have been lapsed following several unsuccessful attempts by officers for further 
information. Table 4 provides a summary. 
 
Table 4: Action to be taken on Investing in Londoners applications today 
 

Action to be taken  Number Amount 

Applications recommended for grant to 
Committee 

14 £1,941,840 

Funding approved by delegated authority up to 
£10,000 (to note)  

2 £1,610 

Funding approved by delegated authority from 
£10,001 - £25,000 (to note)  

1 £17,400 

Funding approved by delegated authority from 
£25,001 - £50,000 (to note) 

0 £0 

Applications recommended for rejection 10 n/a 

Rejections approved by delegated authority (to 
note) 

31 n/a 

Withdrawn applications (to note) 3 n/a 

Applications lapsed (to note) 2 n/a 

Total Investing in Londoners applications 63 £1,960,850 

 

 
Grants in Management 
 

9. The total of grants currently under the on-going management of your Grants 
Officers is shown in Table 5. Prior to the approvals recommended for this 
Committee, the total sum for grants currently being managed is £31,037,973. 
Should the Committee approve the applications proposed at today’s meeting, this 
balance will rise to £32,998,823. 

 

 
 
 
 
David Farnsworth 
Chief Grants Officer 
T: 020 7332 3710   E: david.farnsworth@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Table 5

Grant commitments under management as at 1st June 2017

Table for 2017/18 year-to-date £ £

Prior year grant commitments brought-forward as at 31 March 2017 27,600,000

Grant awarded in 2017/18 6,405,300

Grant write-backs in 2017/18 (26,200)

6,379,100

Payments made in 2017/18 to Grantees (2,941,127)

Current grant commitments as at 1st June2017 31,037,973

Page 22



Page 23

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



Page 25

Agenda Item 7a



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Page 31

Agenda Item 7b



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



Page 43

Agenda Item 7e



Page 44



Page 45

Agenda Item 7f



Page 46



Page 47

Agenda Item 7g



Page 48



Page 49

Agenda Item 7h



Page 50



Page 51

Agenda Item 7i



Page 52



Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



Page 55

Agenda Item 7j



Page 56



Page 57

Agenda Item 7k



Page 58



Page 59

Agenda Item 7l



Page 60



Page 61

Agenda Item 7m



Page 62



Page 63

Agenda Item 7n



Page 64



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

15th June 2017 

Subject: 
Applications recommended for rejection 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Decision 
 

 
Summary 

 

This report and the accompanying schedule outlines a total of 10 grant 
applications or Eco-Audit requests that, for the reason(s) identified, are 
recommended for rejection.  

 
Recommendation 

 

 Members are asked to: 
 

 Reject the grant applications detailed in the accompanying schedule 
 
 

Main Report 
 

1. There are a total of 10 applications (excluding those under the Stepping 
Stones scheme) recommended for rejection at this meeting. They are 
listed within categories in the accompanying schedule. In each case the 
“purpose” that is used to describe the application is that provided by the 
applicant organisation. All the recommendations are based on criteria 
set out in your Policy Guidance.  

 

2. Copies of these application forms are available to view in the Members’ 
Reading Room. If any Committee Member wishes to query any of the 
recommendations, this can either be done at the meeting, in which case 
the decision may be deferred while full details are provided to the 
Member concerned, or by contacting the Trust office in advance of the 
meeting so that an explanation can be provided prior to or at the 
meeting.  
 

 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
T: 020 7332 3186 
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 65

Agenda Item 8a

mailto:ciran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



 Recommended for Rejection 
 The City Bridge Trust Committee - 15th June 2017 

 Summary of Recommendations for Rejection - Investing in Londoners 

 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

 Date Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 English for Speakers of Other Languages 

 March 13963 Enabling disadvantaged local people The request is for more than 50% of the £63,568 KAM 
2017 Stepney Community excluded from mainstream ESOL organisation's turnover, which it is not in Tower Hamlets 
 Trust classes and community services to your policy to support. 
 learn English and gain inclusive access 
 to personal development and life 
 opportunities. 

 Total English for Speakers of Other Languages (1 item) £63,568 

 

 Improving Londoners' Mental Health 

 August 13644 Providing mental wellbeing services for The project's purpose and benefit do not £330,204 JXJ 
2016 Enfield Children and children and young people and sufficiently address the required outcomes Enfield 
 Young Persons information for families / carers; of your Improving Londoners' Mental Health 
 Services including marginalised communities, programme. The scale of this proposal did 
 proving the services in mother tongue not demonstrate how it would be 
 languages. sustainable. 

 April 13960 Funding for salary of support worker The application does not sufficiently address £56,698 JXM 
2017 Fircroft Trust the requested outcomes under your Kingston 
 programme "Improving Londoners' Mental 
 Health'. 

 Total Improving Londoners' Mental Health (2 items) £386,902 

P
age 67



 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

 Date Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 Making London More Inclusive 

 April 13999 Provide 30 vulnerable young people The applicant's reserves exceed its £34,500 JNM 
2017 Exposure with autism and other disabilities with generous target by over 50%. 86% of Haringey 
 Organisation Limited practical, engaging and creative budgeted expenditure for 2017-18 has 
 learning and work experience in an already been raised, leaving sufficient time 
 integrated setting. to raise the £19,000 shortfall. 

 April 13998 To positively increase participation by The organisation has no free reserves. The £47,508 SFJ 
2017 Four Corners Limited disabled residents in community film project is unrealistic insofar as the budget Tower Hamlets 
 and photography projects, film does not reflect the ambitions of the 
 production skills training and arts outcomes. 
 business management 

 April 13932 A grant to pay for an access audit and The building at the centre of this request for £4,020 CR 
2017 Lady Penelope Balogh related process, to identify structural an access audit is used by a single, non Islington 
 Trust and other changes needed to make the charity/ community, tenant and therefore 
 building more accessible. there is insufficient wider community use. 
 The applicant charity has over two years' 
 worth of income in free reserves. 

 Total Making London More Inclusive (3 items) £86,028 

 

 Older Londoners 

 May 14024 To ensure our programme supporting The rate of growth of the organisation is £138,742 KAM 
2017 Silverfit Ltd older Londoners (particularly 75+s) to faster and greater than City Bridge Trust can Southwark 
 live more active, sociable, happier and comfortably support. 
 healthier lives is sustainable over the 
 long term. 

 Total Older Londoners (1 item) £138,742 

P
age 68



 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

 Date Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
Reducing Poverty 

 April 14008 To fund an Advice Centre Coordinator The organisation's free unrestricted reserves £115,896 KAM 
2017 Oasis Community Hub to run the Foodbank and provide are below that which is considered Lambeth 
 Waterloo financial, debt and employment advice. acceptable by City Bridge Trust. 

 April 13929 Increasing our capacity (all of which are An ambitious request from an organisation £310,000 CR 
2017 Rainham Foodbank driven by demand for our services) to run entirely by volunteers and with most Havering 
 feed and support more people to recent audited accounts showing turnover of 
 overcome the ravages of poverty. £12,000. The request comprises both capital 
 and revenue, which you do not usually 
 support at the same time. 

 Total Reducing Poverty (2 items) £425,896 

 

 Resettlement and Rehabilitation of Offenders 

 April 14006 To fund a Capacity Building Manager to The applicant has not set out a clear and £120,000 JXM 
2017 Nehemiah Project implement our growth strategy over convincing case of how it will expand and Lambeth 
 three years, opening new houses to sustain a growth in its provision of support 
 offer support to more ex-offenders each for ex-offenders. It has no free unrestricted 
 year reserves, and carries long term loan 
 liabilities. While it has attracted a 
 commitment for charitable financial support 
 from a 3rd party it is unclear what the 
 relationship is, the terms of support and 
 hence the level of associated risk. 

 Total Resettlement and Rehabilitation of Offenders (1 item) £120,000 

 Grand Totals (10 items) £1,221,136 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 70



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

15th June 2017 

Subject: 
Grants/expenditure considered under Delegated 
Authority 
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 
 

 
Summary 

 

Recommendation 
 

 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 

Main Report 
 

Following the approval of the Court of Common Council on 16th October 2014, the 
Chief Grants Officer may make decisions on applications of up to £10,000. Decisions 
on applications of over £10,000 and up to £25,000 may be approved by the Chief 
Grants Officer in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman.  
 

Decisions on applications of over £25,000 and up to £50,000 may be approved by 
the Chief Grants Officer in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, 
with reference to the Chamberlain. 
 

The total amount of expenditure and number of items approved under delegated 
authority this financial year (inclusive of those below) are shown in Table 1. 
 
 
Requests < £10k  
 
The Greenwood Community 
Centre Charity  
(Approved 24/04/2017) 

£890 to commission an independent access audit 
for the Greenwood Community Centre. 

 
Media Trust  
(Approved 8/05/2017) 

 
£720 for the Media Trust to manage the subtitling 
for 'Telling Your Stories' screening at the Barbican 
(Strategic Initiative) 

 
 
Requests £10k - £25k 
 

Suzy Lamplugh Trust 
(Approved 17/05/2017) 

£17,400 over one year towards the ‘Reducing 
Fear. Living Confidently.’ pilot project.  
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 8b



 
Requests £25k - £50k  
 
None 
 
 
 
Table 1 – Funds approved under delegated authority in financial year to date. 
   

Applications 
reported to 
Committee 

< £10k  
  

£10k - £25k 
  

£25k - £50k 

  £ No. £ No. £ No. 

May 2017  £5,600 2 £0 0 £30,550 1 

June 2017 £1,610 2 £17,400 1 £0 0 

Total for year to 
date £7,210 4 £17,400 1 

 
£30,550 

 
1 

 
 
 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
T: 020 7332 3186 
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk] 

Page 72

mailto:ciran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

15th June 2017 

Subject: 
Withdrawn & Lapsed applications  
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 
 

 
Summary 

 
This report informs Members of applications received which subsequently have been 
withdrawn by the applicant, or lapsed due to the absence of the information required 
to undertake a full assessment. 
 

Recommendation 
 
 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 

 

Main Report 
 
Organisation        Purpose of Request 
 
 
Withdrawn Applications: 
 
Surrey Docks Farm Putting Down Roots in Rotherhithe: Establishing a 

centre for environmental education and 
community action and a Green Network promoting 
'growing & greening' initiatives improving 
neighbourhoods.  
 
- The applicant chose to withdrawn its application 
upon realising that it had applied within the fallow 
period following its previous grant with the Trust. 

 
 
Sea-Change Projects Ltd Fitting-out a new traditional Thames sailing barge 

for the purpose of building confidence, self-
esteem and purpose in young Londoners 
residentially in the Thames estuary.  
 
- The applicant has withdrawn its application, with 
the view to carrying out an access audit in order to 
inform the proposal.  

  

Page 73

Agenda Item 8c



Action for Kids To provide Job Coaching, Employment Brokering 
and Work Related Learning for young people with 
learning disabilities.  
 
- This request was withdrawn, as the applicant 
chose to re-submit an application (subsequently 
approved) in order to be involved in the Bridge to 
Work programme. 

 
 
The below withdrawn application was included in the May Committee reporting 
figures, however in error was omitted from the withdrawn applications summary to 
that meeting:  
 
Community Shop Match capital funding for the refit of the Eric Allin 

Community Centre in Northumberland Park, 
Haringey which includes a retail space, café and 
breakout rooms 
 
- The applicant has asked to withdraw its proposal 
as a result of delays with the project. 

  
 
Lapsed Applications 
 
 
Collingham Gardens Nursery Eco audit application 

 
- The organisation did not provide information 
when requested in order to carry out an 
assessment 

 
 
Mind in Haringey A preventative, outreach and pathway service 

supporting the mental health needs of 300 young 
people (aged 16-25), to positively transition from 
CAMHS to sustained MH/wellbeing.  
 
- No response when contacted for further 
information  

 
 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
 

T: 020 7332 3186 
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk] 

 

Page 74

mailto:ciran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

15th June 2017 

Subject: 
Variations to grants awarded 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 
 

 
Summary 

 
This report informs Members of a grant where a variation has been agreed by the 
Chief Grants Officer since your last meeting. 
 

Recommendation 
 
 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 
 

Main Report 
 
Since your last meeting, variation to the grant outlined below has been agreed by the 
Chief Grants Officer, in line with the revised delegated procedure for the amendment 
of grants as agreed by your Committee in October 2004. 
 
 
 

Social Enterprise UK 
In September 2015 the sum of £3,200 was approved to provide an eco-audit to 
Social Enterprise UK. The final invoice for this reflected a change in scope of the 
audit and came in at £1,200 under budget. This sum has been written back. 
 
 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
020 7332 3186 
ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8d



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 76



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

15th June 2017 

Subject: 
Unsuccessful Stepping Stones applications   
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 
 

 
Summary 

 

This report and the accompanying schedule outlines a total of 31 grant 
applications to the Stepping Stones fund that, for the reason(s) identified, 
were declined by the Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Chief Grants 
Officer under delegated authority further to the Committee’s agreement of 
28th January 2015.  

 
Recommendation 

 

 Members are asked to: 
 

 Note the grant applications detailed in the accompanying schedule 
 
 

Main Report 
 

1. There are a total of 31 applications to the Stepping Stones fund which 
were declined under delegated authority following recommendations by 
your officers. They are listed in the accompanying schedule. In each 
case the “purpose” that is used to describe the application is that 
provided by the applicant organisation. All the recommendations are 
based on criteria set out in your Policy Guidance.  

 
 

 
 
 
Tim Wilson 
Principal Grants and Social Investment Officer 
T: 020 7332 3716 
E: tim.wilson@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8e

mailto:tim.wilson@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



 Stepping Stones – Round 4 
 Summary of Rejected Applications during Stage 1 

 

 Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Grants Officer 

 Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 Stepping Stones 

 14038 AY Recruitment raising aspirations and A relatively recently established organisation £50,000 TW 
 Acknowledging Youths making a positive contribution that seeking funding for employability training and Tower Hamlets 
 CIC provides accessible training and mentoring with NEET young people. There is 
 constructive outcome. no apparent link to social investment in the 
 proposal, and the organisation's turnover has 
 fallen significantly which causes concern. 

 14040 To explore and understand potential A proposal to research the East London £50,000 TW 
 Allia business/social investment funding property market and consider the best Hackney 
 models for the Future Business Centre financing structure for an affordable 
 East London. workspace, incubator and accelerator 
 programmes. The possible role of social 
 investment is judged to be insufficiently 
 strong. 
  

 14072 Funding the roles of Strategic Director Funding is sought for the organisation's £32,000 TW 
 Avenues Youth and the fundraising function to broaden Strategic Director who will work to broaden Westminster 
 Project and strengthen our income base and and strengthen the charity's income base. 
 resilience Whilst the proposed work is judged to be 
 sensible there is no specific mention of social 
 investment in the application. Rejection is 
 recommended for insufficient evidence that 
 the charity is working towards social 
 investment. 

P
age 79



 Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Grants Officer 

 Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 14043 The funding required is for the A request to turn the organisation's £43,255 TW 
 Business Launchpad development of a coworking space to conference space into shared workspace. Wandsworth 
 support the charitable activities of the The business case and social benefit of the 
 charity. proposed work could be clearer. It is also 
 unclear why the organisation would seek 
 social investment once the work is complete. 
 

 14075 Increase level of businesses supporting CVB wishes to develop its volunteering £49,362 TW 
 Camden Volunteer the community by helping our Employer brokerage service. Whilst Stepping Stones Camden 
 Bureau Supported Volunteering brokerage would help accelerate the business it's not 
 service 'Team UP' to be self-sustainable clear how central social investment is to the 
 and social investment ready. charity's future plans. 
 

 14053 Adviceline+: Dedicated telephone A request to develop the charity's Adviceline+ £50,000 TW 
 Citizens Advice advice service to vulnerable people and telephone advice service for vulnerable Haringey 
 Bureaux, Haringey those excluded from the services we people. The application provides no evidence 
 provide at core hours. of a pathway to social investment. 
 

 14026 We are launching a new product and A very ambitious proposal for a £100m £50,000 TW 
 Community Sponsors require capacity building to measure, property fund from a registered charity which, Westminster 
 Charity monitor, evaluate and communicate its based on Charity Commission returns, 
 social impact. doesn't appear to have been active for 
 several years. 

P
age 80



 Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Grants Officer 

 Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 14048 CL is seeking financial support to A charity offering horticultural training for £47,684 TW 
 Cultivate London develop our management and operating disadvantaged young people to address Ealing 
 capabilities to attract social investment social isolation and health inequalities. 
 to build the business and increase our Cultivate wants to develop management and 
 social impact. operating capabilities to build its landscaping 
 and kitchen garden businesses but given the 
 organisation's financial position and the need 
 to develop a robust business before it can 
 consider any form of borrowing it is judged 
 unlikely to be suitable for social investment for 
 some time. 
 

 14049 We want to build the capacity of our An application from a charity promoting £27,426 TW 
 EcoActive Education staff team to offer new training courses, sustainability, tackling climate change and Hackney 
 Services set up an online shop and increase addressing fuel poverty. The organisation 
 trading income. wishes to develop training courses and an 
 online shop targetting schools, housing 
 associations and parks. The link to social 
 investment is insufficiently strong and it 
 seems the charity could develop this new 
 business through the reinvestment of surplus 
 rather than seek repayable investment 
 

 14051 Strengthening and broadening support The proposed work has no obvious £47,500 TW 
 Families Need Fathers to fathers (and all non-resident parents) connection to the aims of the Stepping Stones Hackney 
 in London in maintaining relationships Fund or of a pathway to social investment. 
 with their children after separation or 
 divorce. 

P
age 81



 Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Grants Officer 

 Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 14023 To fund a sales post that increases A proposal to test the market for consulting £49,145 TW 
 Family and Childcare significantly YDC's income generation services to healthcare professionals and Southwark 
 Trust from consultancy/training to make the criminal justice providers. It is unclear why 
 project investment ready and social investment would be needed or how 
 self-sustaining in the long term. the applicant would develop a stronger 
 understanding of the social investment market 
 during the life of a Stepping Stones grant. 
 

 14028 Staff time to research and develop plan The organisation wishes to move from £48,590 TW 
 Finance Innovation for generating income from commercial reliance on grants to generating at least 20% Camden 
 Lab programmes and consultancy, leading from income generating programmes and 
 to greater financial sustainability and consultancy. The link to social investment 
 potential for social investment. was not judged to be sufficiently strong. 
 

 14029 To explore and quantify the Relatively small organisation working to £20,225 TW 
 Finding Rhythms opportunities for fee-for-service activity change offender behaviour through music City 
 with prisons, probation services and making. The applicant wishes to build its 
 organisations that mentor ex-offenders trading income and whilst the aims of the 
 or those at risk of offending. proposed work are clear, the short-listing 
 panel concluded that the link to social 
 investment was insufficiently strong. 
 

 14054 To allow High Trees to embark on A clear plan from an organisation wishing to £48,596 TW 
 High Trees traded services in fee paying training offer accredited English and IT training Lambeth 
 Community courses and community consultation courses. In the view of the short-listing panel 
 Development Trust work to diversify our income, supporting the proposed work was judged to be at a very 
 charitable services early stage and it would be quite some time 
 before they could consider social investment. 

P
age 82



 Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Grants Officer 

 Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 14031 Becoming an integrated organisation The charity seeks support to help it develop £45,701 TW 
 Home-Start supported by an ambitious business operations in Kingston and Hounslow. Whilst Richmond 
 Richmond-Upon-      model that ensures our sustainability to the presentation of challenges and 
 Thames give families the best start in life. opportunities facing the organisation was 
 persuasive, it was unclear what role social 
 investment might play in the future. 
 

 14035 To research, establish and test out a An existing City Bridge Trust grantee £49,972 TW 
 Limes Community and new social business model to become a providing services to children with learning Waltham Forest 
 Children's Centre trading arm of the Limes to generate disabilities in Waltham Forest. The charity 
 unrestricted income. wishes to buy its premises and service the 
 mortgage through income generated by a 
 new trading arm. In the view of the 
 short-listing panel the charity's finances would 
 make borrowing difficult and some time would 
 be needed to develop the trading arm before 
 a social investor could commit funds. 
 

 14058 Capacity building to become investment MVSC wishes to establish an enterprise hub £39,982 TW 
 Merton Voluntary ready and establish MVSC Enterprise and develop its consultancy services. Work Merton 
 Service Council activities and marketable services to will be delivered by staff and whilst the team 
 generate unrestricted revenue and is evidently capable, the role of social 
 enhance our sustainability. investment was judged to be a distant 
 possibility. 
 

 14025 To develop a robust infrastructure to The charity wants to engage a Business £48,005 TW 
 Migrants Resource support the growth of our fee paying Development Manager to expand its fee Haringey 
 Centre immigration advice service. paying Immigration Nationality and Advice 
 Service. It is not clear how social investment 
 might be used in support of the proposed 
 work. 

P
age 83



 Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Grants Officer 

 Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 14060 To build capacity for our Wellbeing in The short-listing panel did not deem the £45,000 TW 
 Mind Yourself the Workplace social enterprise project, pathway to social investment sufficiently Islington 
 develop our business model to win strong. The proposed social enterprise will 
 investment and generate income for the need to build profile and track record over 
 charity. some time before seeking any kind of 
 repayable finance. 
 

 14063 To undertake a comprehensive The applicant wants to assess opportunities £1 TW 
 New Horizon Youth feasibility study into commissioning income generation opportunities in the fields Camden 
 Centre opportunities within Government, Local of health, criminal justice and employment 
 Authorities, GLA with a view to training. The short-listing panel did not think 
 diversifying NHYC's income base. the link to social investment was sufficiently 
 strong. 
 

 14022 To strengthen Pact Futures' groupwork Pact wish to expand its family focused work in £42,485 TW 
 Pact Futures CIC quality assurance processes and criminal justice space by benefitting from Southwark 
 outcomes measures to enable it to sub-contracting opportunities. The connection 
 move into new (Payment-by-Results) between the proposed work and the role of 
 markets and win new business. social investment finance was not judged to 
 be sufficiently strong. 
 

 14033 Pegasus Opera Company requires A proposal to develop quality assurance and £42,394 TW 
 Pegasus Opera support for capacity building – improving fundraising capabilities. There is no link to Lambeth 
 Company our QA systems and fundraising in social investment in the application. 
 order to become sustainable for the 
 future. 

P
age 84



 Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Grants Officer 

 Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 14065 To identify new revenue streams and An organisation using the creative arts to £21,000 TW 
 Raw Material Music maximising the existing assets of Raw tackle mental ill health with a particular focus Lambeth 
 and Media Education Material, both the physical assets and on BME communities. It wishes to prepare for 
 Limited the human resources assets. contract opportunities but the application does 
 not contain a specific mention of social 
 investment or show evidence of a pathway 
 towards social finance. 
 

 14034 Support development of a sustainable An organisation working to support migrant, £30,000 TW 
 Ripe Enterprises business model, increase the refugee, low income and unemployed adults Southwark 
 Limited organisation's fee earning income towards employment. Looking to develop a 
 capacity and improve evidence of sustainable business model, the short-listing 
 impact of Ripe's services. panel did not judge the link between the 
 proposed work and social investment to be 
 sufficiently clear. 
 

 14067 To develop the digital tools and A thoughtful proposal to develop core £50,000 TW 
 Social Action for practices that underpin more effective business capabilities, but with no evident Hackney 
 Health and sustainable community health connection to social investment or the aims of 
 development thereby becoming Stepping Stones. 
 investable and bridging the digital 
 divide. 

P
age 85



 Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Grants Officer 

 Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 14071 Funding the salary of a Commercial An organisation working to encourage young £50,000 TW 
 The Advocacy Director to help us transition from a people's civic participation. Having been Lambeth 
 Academy fledgling charity into a professional established relatively recently and reliant on 
 social enterprise with a sustainable the founder's time it now wishes to recruit a 
 revenue stream.Â  Commercial Director, initially to lead the 
 fundraising for grants and then to help them 
 generate revenue. Social investment seems 
 to be a distant goal and so the proposed work 
 is not deemed to be a sufficiently strong fit 
 with Stepping Stones. 
 

 14074 Research, feasibility and development A well-regarded infrastructure organisation. £50,000 TW 
 Voice4Change work towards setting up of a sustainable Voice4Change England wishes to prepare a Wandsworth 
 England community hub to provide business model for a sustainable community 
 shared workspaces for BME hub for BME infrastructure orgs and specialist 
 infrastructure and specialist advocacy and social action organisations. 
 organisations in London This was judged to be a challenging goal as 
 the applicant is not currently in the strongest 
 financial position and might therefore struggle 
 to raise the required capital. 
 

 14076 To increase our capacity by developing The organisation wishes to develop a £46,942 TW 
 Waltham forest a consultancy arm that generates consultancy arm but there is no obvious role Waltham Forest 
 community hub ltd income to further develop our charity to for social investment in its future plans. 
 become fully sustainable. 
 

 14077 We are requesting a capacity-building WDP seeks funding for development of its £50,000 TW 
 Westminster Drug grant to deliver a Community and community and corporate substance misuse Camden 
 Project (WDP) Corporate Substance Misuse Training training programme. There is no obvious 
 Service for London Zone 1 businesses need for social investment. 
 and local groups 

P
age 86



 Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Grants Officer 

 Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 
 14037 To develop a supported employment The organisation wishes to develop its Bags £50,000 TW 
 women@thewell social enterprise where women affected of Courage service as a sustainable social Camden 
 by prostitution can start the process of enterprise. It is not clear how social 
 exiting whilst generating income for investment would be used to support this 
 women@thewell. business development or why the 
 organisation might want to consider the risk of 
 borrowing. 
 

 14079 To develop a revenue generating online Whilst the proposed work is very well £36,230 TW 
 Youth Justice Legal subscription model that includes legal described the pathway towards social Islington 
 Centre how-to toolkits, discussion forums, investment is not sufficiently well articulated. 
 'just-in-time' training and mobile friendly The short-listing panel did not judge the 
 content for timely in-court use. proposal to be a clear fit with the aims of 
 Stepping Stones. 

 Total Stepping Stones (31 items) £1,311,495 

 Grand Totals (31 items) £1,311,495 

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 88



  

Committee 
 

Dated:  
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

15th June 2017 

Subject: 
Progress report: Prince’s Trust 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 
 

 
 
 

Summary 
 

This report provides an update, written by the charity, on the work of the Prince’s 
Trust funded by the City Bridge Trust. 

 
Recommendation 

 
 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Shegufta Rahman 
Grants Officer 
 

T: 020 7332 3021 
E: shegufta.rahman@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 8f

mailto:shegufta.rahman@cityoflondon.gov.uk


  

 
CITY BRIDGE TRUST – Strategic Initiative progress report 

 
The Prince’s Trust Ref: 13975 

 
Grant Amount: £1m per annum over 10 years.  
 
Purpose of grant:  
This grant supports The Prince’s Trust’s work with young Londoners who are furthest 
away from the labour market and hardest-to-reach, for example, those who have struggled 
at school, are disengaged from further education or have multiple barriers between them 
and employment. The grant funds a number of our programmes to support the journey of 
these young people into a ‘good positive outcome’ such as employment, training and 
education or volunteering. 
 
Project Start Date: 01/04/2015    Projected End Date: 31/03/2025 
 
Please summarise your progress to date, specifically focusing on the key outcomes 
and impact of the project:  
 

1. The funding has been utilised on our programmes which engage the hardest-to-
reach young people and our education offer: the Fairbridge programme caters for 
young people with the most complex needs providing participants with a bespoke 
programme to address these; Get Started is a week-long profession-themed course 
developing employability skills and the ‘soft skills’ needed to nurture success; Team 
is a 12-week personal development programme building the skillset and confidence 
of young people; and Achieve aims to reduce the likelihood of academic 
underachievement fostering personal and social development, life skills and active 
citizenship. City Bridge Trust (CBT) funding has also supported our Outreach and 
assessment functions helping create new pathways for young people into the Trust, 
especially those ‘hidden’; outside of unemployed support networks. Funding has 
also supported the work of our housing advice worker who takes on individual 
cases and uses a network of close partners to resolve complicated housing issues 
hindering the development of some young people on our courses. 

 
2. At the conclusion of the second year of this partnership 3,409 young people had 

received direct support from the funding. The transition rates for young people on 
programmes into a positive outcome have been high with 77% of young people 
going into a positive outcome within 3 months of completion.  Of these, 37% had 
gone into an employment outcome, 37% into education or training and 13% into 
volunteering. 160 young people have received case support from our housing 
advisor. 
 

3. Additional outcomes of the funding have included establishing partnerships with 
CBT stakeholders and networks which have added value and efficiency to our 
operations. Some examples of these include collaborating with CBT grantees who 
are now co-delivering some of our Get Started programmes, working with City of 
London Corporation Education and Early Years’ Service to promote our Achieve 
programme in sponsored schools, and at a more strategic level working alongside 
the Samuel Wilsons Loan Trust to open additional funding opportunities to young 
people from our ‘Enterprise’ programme.  
 

Page 90



  

4. CBT Funding has also helped contribute to our plans for growth in London. Across 
all our programmes in London the Trust has delivered to 140 additional young 
people (2015/16 vs. 2016/17) with an increase of +729 planned for 2017/18. This 
has been made possible due to the CBT investment. The flexibility of CBT funding 
means we have been able attract more external investment to support growth, for 
example, Morgan Stanley investment for Achieve in East London schools. 
 

5. With support of CBT investment the Trust was able to commission an external 
evaluation of its outreach and delivery models in London. This review has now been 
completed and has provided valuable insight for the Trust including common local 
characteristics, needs of the young people we cater for, and recommendations that 
can be implemented in the region and across the Trust. 

 
Do you have any particular learning points to share?  
 

6. Across the Trust and particularly evident in London is the trend of more young 
people coming to us with a mental health need. From CBT funded programmes, 
24% young people have a mental health need (21% in 2015/16) identified at the 
beginning of or during a programme. Participants on our Fairbridge programme, 
which engages our most complex young people has seen a 9% rise during this 
period. To help address this the Trust has appointed a specialist Mental Health 
Adviser to co-ordinate our partnerships with specialist organisations and connect 
them to our young people. An example in London was securing funding from the 
Berkley Foundation in partnership with MIND to deliver one day a week mental 
health provision for young people in our Kennington and Poplar centres. 
 

7. Our data collection from CBT-funded programmes provides interesting insight into 
some other common traits we are seeing amongst the hardest to reach in London. 
Across the two years of funding 12% young people were care leavers (423), 27.5% 
had a disability (965) and 14.5% were homeless – ‘sofa surfing’ or without 
permanent stable accommodation (498). This insight is useful when forming 
partnerships to support our Outreach work; bespoke training for members of staff, 
and approaching specialist organisations to refer young people in need of support 
where the Trust is not in a position to provide this specialist support. 
 

8. The need for interventions in schools like the Achieve programme to prevent 
academic underachievement is vital. London youth unemployment remains 
consistently high in comparison with the UK average (16.7% vs. 12.4% Jan-Dec 
2016) and the data we gather from our young people’s background show that 32% 
on CBT-funded activity were classified as ‘educational underachievers’. Uptake of 
Achieve has grown significantly in the last year (281 in 2015/16, 444 in 2016/17) 
and we are forecasting 990 young people for 2017/18. 
 

9. The external evaluation of our outreach and delivery models has provided some 
noteworthy trends in our work which will help shape our future delivery models. For 
example, the research showed some consistent trends for young people; males’ are 
predominant making up 67% of all Fairbridge and Get Started (F&GS), whilst BAME 
participants make up over two thirds of all CBT-funded young people on F&GS. 
This has helped us evaluate our Outreach approach to ensure we are targeting 
more female participants and in places where BAME young people can find us. 
F&GS participants were also asked to identify the challenges they feel they face, 
and the main ones cited were problems with numbers/maths (31%), and problems 
with reading/writing (30%). This information has helped us to ensure the correct 

Page 91



  

literacy and numeracy support is available and in the correct format for young 
people to engage and overcome this barrier. 
 

What are your plans for the remainder of the period funded:  
 

10. For the third year of delivery we have agreed a plan against the outcomes 
mentioned in the progress section of this report but with an increase in the number 
of young people that will benefit from this grant; we are planning to engage 1,729 
young people with CBT funding in 2017/18. 
 

11. As per the initial funding agreement, the plan and outcomes of this grant will be 
reviewed in preparation for year four of the partnership. This is an opportunity to 
look back on the impact to date but also to consider strategic changes at CBT and 
The Prince’s Trust. With the conclusion of CBT’s strategic review this summer we 
want to make sure we are aligned to the new strategic aims. In addition to this the 
Trust is about to embark on several operational changes which may influence our 
delivery model and how we allocate CBT funding going forward. Some examples 
include the full integration of Mosaic* into our operational structure and the 
transition of some activities to our new digital delivery platform, Prince’s Trust 
Online.   

 
*Mosaic (a charity that has recently become a part of the Trust, and previously funded by 
CBT) offers mentoring to school-aged young people in deprived communities across the 
UK helping them build skills but also giving them a network of support and opportunity. 
Mosaic works especially but not exclusively in Muslim communities, and also delivers 
mentoring in prisons. 
 

12. The Trust is working towards a five year London Growth plan which will see us 
significantly increase our footprint across the Capital and increase the numbers of 
young people accessing our programmes. CBT funding will help us to structure and 
deliver against this plan by providing us with stable income whilst its foundations 
are established. As one of our biggest supporters in London we also intend to fully 
engage CBT with the development of this growth plan to maximise impact and 
delivery opportunities with other CBT grantees. 

 
What will happen at the end of the grant?  
 

13. The Prince’s Trust relies on a wide range of funding sources and partners in order to 

deliver our work across London and the UK. We believe that this mix offers security 

should one area of fundraising be more difficult in any year. This approach is led by 

a national and regional fundraising team. 

 

14. Longer-term partnerships are particularly valuable in allowing us to plan for delivery, 

development and growth further ahead, but also in allowing time and confidence to 

develop other long-term funding relationships; we are better able to prove success 

and ambition in terms of our support for young people. 

 

15. Fundraising approaches and conversations with others continue throughout all of our 

funding partnerships so that funding cliff-edges are avoided. The ambition of our 

plans for London, made possible by CBT support, is a definite boost to these 

conversations. 

Page 92



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust Committee 
 

15 June 2017 

Subject: 
City Bridge Trust Communications 
 

Public 

Report of: 
The Chief Grants Officer 
 

For Information 

Report author: 
Martin Hall, Communications Manager 
 

 
Summary 

 
This paper provides members with an update on the communications work of the 
City Bridge Trust (CBT). 
 

Recommendation 
 
Members are asked to: 

 Receive the report and note its contents. 
 
 

Main Report 
 

Key Audience Group Reporting 
 

1. Appendix 1 reports communications activity between 26/04/17 and 30/05/17 
against each of the four key audiences identified in your Communications 
Strategy. 

 
2. This shows good levels of activity towards the Londoners, immediate 

stakeholders and other funders, policy makers & key commentators 
audiences. As noted in the previous report, there was less recorded activity 
aimed at regulators & politicians.  This is partly due to local and national 
election campaigning during this period. Officers will plan to specifically target 
regulators & politicians in future, in consultation with the Remembrancers 
Department through their role as liason with government. 

 
 
Media Activity  
 

3. Appendix 2 provides a detailed breakdown of the media activity supporting 
delivery of your Communications Strategy during this period. The majority of 
acitivity was via print or online media, with extensive coverage of the Beacon 
Awards. The Trust was also featured on BBC London News, as part of a 
piece arranged by your Media Officer to mark Mental Health Awareness 
Week. 

Page 93

Agenda Item 8g



 
Exernal Events Register 
 

4. A range of events were attended on behalf of the Trust over the last two 
months. This included attendance at the Beacon Awards ceremony and 
events hosted by the Clothworkers and Leathersellers Livery Companies.  
 

5. A full list of external events attended by officers and Members on behalf of the 
Trust can be found at Appendix 3. 

 
 
 
Martin Hall 
Communications Manager 
T: 020 7332 3705 
E: Martin.hall@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 94

mailto:Martin.hall@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix 1: Key Audience Groups 
 
Audience Face to face Online and Printed Media 

channels 
Online content Direct Marketing 

Londoners All recent events were attended 
by Londoners. A full list can be 
found in the External Events 
table report (Appendix 3). 

 Barking and Dagenham Post 

 BBC London News 

 Charity Today 

 City AM 

 City Matters 

 Croydon Advertiser 

 Ealing Times 

 Ealing Today 

 Evening Standard 

 Financial News 

 Financial Times 

 Hillingdon Times 

 London Bulletin 

 This is local London 

 CBT Twitter 
(4,388 followers. 
62.6k impressions* 
between 26/04/17 & 
30/05/17) 

 

 CBT Website (1,588 
users between 
26/04/17 & 
30/05/17) 

None to report 

Regulators & 
politicians 

 Flourishing Lives Coalition 

 London Youth reception 

None to report None to report None to report 

Immediate 
stakeholders** 

 Beacon Awards 

 Dragon Awards shortlisting 

 Clothworkers Livery 
Company awards 

 The Leather Sellers 
Company event 

 City Matters 

 City AM 

 London Loves Business 

 News items on the 
CoL intranet and e-
bulletin.  

 Regular updates in 
the Members‟ 
Briefing. 

None to report 

P
age 95



Audience Face to face Online and Printed Media 
channels 

Online content Direct Marketing 

Other funders, 
policy makers & 
key commentators 

Various events including: 

 Association of Charitable 
Foundations 

 Cass Business School 

 Charity Finance Group 

 Charity Tax Group 

 Collaborate CIC 

 Comic Relief  

 Institute for Voluntary Action 
Research 

 London Community 
Foundation 

 London Funders 

 Robin Hood Foundation 

 Better Society 

 Charity Times 

 Charity Today 

 City am 

 Ethical Corporation 
Magazine 

 Financial News 

 Fundrasing.com 

 LondonLovesBusiness 

 Mental Health Today 

 Optician Online 

 UK Fundraising 

None to report None to report 

 

* An Impression is the number of times CBT tweets have been delivered to other accounts and potentially viewed. 
 

** Includes CBT & CoL Officers & Members; key infrastructure bodies; grantees; potential grantees; City leaders, workers, 
Human Resource and Corporate Social Responsibility professionals. 

  

P
age 96



Appendix 2: Media Coverage 
26th April 2017 to 30th May 2017 

Organisation  Publication Readership Detail Coverage Date Weblink 

Vision Care 
for Homeless 
People 

City Matters 20,000 Report on grant for 
£37,100 to provide eye 
care for homeless people. 

London 26/04 City Matters 

Ability Bow City Matters 20,000 Story on the Trust‟s 
£98,000 grant to disabled 
gym in Tower Hamlets. 

London 26/04 City Matters 
 
(internal only) 

Arthritis Care London bulletin 15,000 Reports on a £154,000 
grant to help young 
Londoners living with 
arthritis. 

London 27/04 London Bulletin 

Vision Care 
for Homeless 
People 

Optician Online 40,250 The Trust‟s grant is 
covered and Alderman 
Alison Gowman is quoted 

National 
Trade 

28/04 Optician Online 

City Bridge 
Trust 

Financial News 292,348 David Farnsworth is 
interviewed about the 
Trust and charitable giving 
in the City.  

London  03/05 Financial News 
(subscription 
required) 

City Bridge 
Trust  

Barking and 
Dagenham Post 

5,157 Reports on a support 
project for disabled 
people.  

Regional 04/05 Barking and 
Dagenham Post 

The Reader Charity Today 50,000 Alderman Alison Gowman, 
is quoted in an article 
about a £88,000 grant. 

National trade 04/05 Charity Today 

Arthritis Care City Matters 20,000 Report on a grant towards 
emotional and practical 
support to young people in 
London living with arthritis. 

London 04/05 City Matters 

P
age 97

http://citymatters.london/grant-help-deliver-vision/
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/280417/CBT%20gym.PNG
http://londonbulletin.co.uk/charity-gets-k-grant-to-help-young-londoners-living-with-arthritis-p4888-180.htm
https://www.opticianonline.net/news/vchp-secures-37k-grant-1
https://www.fnlondon.com/articles/meet-the-man-bridging-the-gap-between-city-and-charity-20170503
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/AA%20MMB/Barking%20disabled.pdf
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/AA%20MMB/Barking%20disabled.pdf
https://www.charitytoday.co.uk/charity-bringing-literature-life-will-tackle-isolation-amongst-elderly/
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/050517/CM%20CBT.PNG


Organisation  Publication Readership Detail Coverage Date Weblink 

Disablement 
Association 
Barking & 
Dagenham 

London Bulletin 15,000 Coverage on a welfare 
support charity which has 
expanded thanks to a 
grant from the Trust.  

London 05/05 London Bulletin 
Online 

The Reader Croydon Advertiser 7,851 Alderman Alison Gowman, 
is quoted. 

Regional 08/05 Croydon Advertiser 

Disablement 
Association 
Barking & 
Dagenham 

Charity Today 50,000 As above. National  08/05 Charity Today 

Beacon 
Awards 

Financial News 292,384 Coverage of the Beacon 
Awards, the UK‟s 
philanthropy awards. 
Banker Alexander Hoare 
is announced the winner 
of the City Philanthropy 
category, which is 
sponsored by the Trust. 

Trade 09/05 Financial News 

Beacon 
Awards 

Fundrasing.com 33,000 As above Trade  09/05 UK Fundraising 

Beacon 
Awards 

London Bulletin 15,000 As above London 09/05 The London Bulletin 

Beacon 
Awards 

Better Society - As above National 
Trade 

09/05 Better Society 

Beacon 
Awards 

City Matters 20,000 As above London 10/05 City Matters 

Beacon 
Awards 

Evening Standard 858,504 As above London 10/05 Evening Standard 

P
age 98

http://londonbulletin.co.uk/welfare-support-charity-in-barking-dagenham-gets-cash-boost-to-enable-onl-p4947-180.htm
http://londonbulletin.co.uk/welfare-support-charity-in-barking-dagenham-gets-cash-boost-to-enable-onl-p4947-180.htm
http://www.croydonadvertiser.co.uk/8203-charity-given-88-000-to-tackle-loneliness-amongst-older-people-in-croydon/story-30312729-detail/story.html
https://www.charitytoday.co.uk/welfare-support-charity-gets-cash-boost-to-enable-online-services-for-instant-financial-advice/
https://www.fnlondon.com/articles/private-banker-scoops-city-philanthropy-prize-20170509
https://fundraising.co.uk/2017/05/09/alexander-hoare-wins-city-philanthropy-2017-beacon-award/#.WRLLo_k3eUk
https://fundraising.co.uk/2017/05/09/alexander-hoare-wins-city-philanthropy-2017-beacon-award/
http://bettersociety.net/hoare-philanthropy.php
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/150517/CM%20philanthropu.PNG
http://www.standard.co.uk/news/foodforlondon/award-for-founder-of-charity-at-heart-of-standard-s-food-waste-campaign-a3535551.html


  

Organisation  Publication Readership Detail Coverage Date Weblink 

School Food 
Matters 

Evening Standard 858,504 The Trust is referenced in 
an article about food 
education programme 
Know Your Onions.  

London 10/05 Evening Standard  

DABD Barking and 
Dagenham Post 

5,157 An article on Trust‟s £125k 
grant for their online 
benefits scheme.  

Regional 11/05 The Barking and 
Dagenham Post 

Beacon 
Awards 

Ethical Corporation 
Magazine 

4,000 As above London 11/05 Ethical Corporation 
Magazine 

Healthy 
Living 
Projects 

BBC London News 1,000,000 To mark Mental Health 
Awareness Week, the 
BBC reports on the 
Welcome Centre, a project 
funded by the Trust. 

London 15/05 BBC London News 
 
(via YouTube) 

CBT and City 
Philanthropy 

City AM 1,657,000 Column from the Lord 
Mayor Andrew Parmley 
writing about the Beacon 
Award for Philanthropy 
and highlighting the 
importance of giving in 
London.  

London 15/05 City AM 

City Bridge 
Trust 

Mental health Today 25,000 Alderman Alison Gowman 
writes on funding services 
in London that will help its 
young people thrive, in 
light of Mental Health 
Awareness Week. 

National trade 15/05 Mental Health Today 

P
age 99

file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/12%2005%2017/cbt%20ES.pdf
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/12%2005%2017/CBT%20dabd.pdf
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/12%2005%2017/CBT%20dabd.pdf
http://www.ethicalcorp.com/weeklywatch-11-may-2017
http://www.ethicalcorp.com/weeklywatch-11-may-2017
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TSjowBnsdrw&t=40s
http://www.cityam.com/264640/london-philanthropic-powerhouse-celebrate-those-give-back
https://www.mentalhealthtoday.co.uk/funding_services_in_london_that_will_help_young_people_thrive_25769840000.aspx


Organisation  Publication Readership Detail Coverage Date Weblink 

Havelock 
Family 
Centre 

Ealing Today - Report that Southall 
Family Centre is to receive 
a grant of £100,000 from 
the Trust to transform the 
building and make it fully 
accessible. 

Regional 16/05 Ealing Today 

Havelock 
Family 
Centre 

Ealing Times 20,800 As above Regional  17/05 Ealing Times 

Havelock 
Family 
Centre 

Hillingdon Times 20,800 As above Regional 17/05 Hillingdon & 
Uxbridge Times  

Havelock 
Family 
Centre 

This is local London 20,800 As above Regional 17/05 This is Local London 

London‟s 
Giving 

UK Fundraising 33,000 Report on a grant to 
London Funders of 
£300,000 to enable it to 
roll out its London‟s Giving 
initiative across all of the 
Capital‟s boroughs. 

National trade 17/05 UK Fundraising 

City 
Philanthropy 

Charity Times 30,000 Cheryl Chapman, Head of 
Philanthropy Engagement, 
writes on “why we need to 
receive philanthropists 
better as a nation” and the 
Beacon Awards.  

National trade 18/05 Charity Times 

The Reader City Matters 20,000 As above London 18/05 City Matters 
 
(internal only) 

P
age 100

http://www.ealingtoday.co.uk/default.asp?section=info&page=eahavelock001.htm
http://www.ealingtimes.co.uk/news/15289530.Southall_community_centre_to_be_restored_with___100k_City_Bridge_Trust_grant/
http://www.hillingdontimes.co.uk/news/15289530.Southall_community_centre_to_be_restored_with___100k_City_Bridge_Trust_grant/
http://www.hillingdontimes.co.uk/news/15289530.Southall_community_centre_to_be_restored_with___100k_City_Bridge_Trust_grant/
http://www.thisislocallondon.co.uk/news/15289530.Southall_community_centre_to_be_restored_with___100k_City_Bridge_Trust_grant/
https://fundraising.co.uk/2017/05/17/london-funders-receives-300000-continue-londons-giving-initiative/
http://www.charitytimes.com/ct/blog-why-we-need-to-receive-philanthropists-better-as-a-nation.php
file:///W:/File%20Transfer/Martin%20Hall/CM%20DABD%20and%20READER.jpg


  

Organisation  Publication Readership Detail Coverage Date Weblink 

DABD City Matters 20,000 As above  London 18/05 City Matters 
 
(internal only) 

CBT / Dragon 
Awards 

LondonLovesBusiness 115,000 City Bridge Trust is 
mentioned in story about 
the shortlist for the 30th 
anniversary Lord Mayor‟s 
Dragon Awards.. 

London 22/05 London Loves 
Business 

Havelock 
Family 
Centre & 
InterAct 
Stroke 
Support 

City Matters 20,000 Report on two grants from 
the Trust. 

London 25/05 City Matters 
 
(internal only) 

South 
London 
Botanical 
Institute 

Financial Times 193,000 Report on the founding 
and history of the South 
London Botanical Institute. 
Funding from the Trust is 
referenced. 

National 30/05 Financial Times 
 
(subscription only) 

P
age 101

file:///W:/File%20Transfer/Martin%20Hall/CM%20DABD%20and%20READER.jpg
http://www.londonlovesbusiness.com/business-news/-arsenal-fc-tfl-and-vanquis-bank-among-organisations-shortlisted-for-prestigious-responsible-business-awards/15915.article
http://www.londonlovesbusiness.com/business-news/-arsenal-fc-tfl-and-vanquis-bank-among-organisations-shortlisted-for-prestigious-responsible-business-awards/15915.article
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/260517/CM%20CBT.PNG
https://www.ft.com/content/5b7e332a-3c80-11e7-ac89-b01cc67cfeec


Appendix 3: External Events Register 
Attended 26th April – 31st May 2017 

 
  

Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

04/05/17 
Crowe Clark 
Whitehill 

Breakfast 
Briefing 

Karen Atkinson 
Salisbury Square, 
City of London 

Managing in Uncertain Times 

08/05/17 
Robin Hood 
Foundation 

Lunch David Farnsworth City of London Introductory meeting. 

09/05/17 
Charity Tax 
Group 

Committee 
meeting 

Karen Atkinson 
Church Street, 
Westminster 

Committee meeting of sector 
based group 

09/05/17 Beacon Awards 
Awards 
ceremony 

Chairman Alison 
Gowman, David 
Farnsworth,  
Cheryl Chapman, 
Jenny Field. 

City of London, 
Mansion House. 

Beacon Awards ceremony. 

P
age 102



Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

9 & 
10/05/17 

Institute for 
Voluntary 
Action 
Research 

Seminar Tim Wilson City of London 

An annual learning event for Trusts 
and Foundations interested in 
monitoring and evaluation. The 
focus of this annual seminar was 
the evaluation work of the Esmee 
Fairbairn Foundation. 

10/05/2017 
Lambeth 
Funders‟ Fair 

Presentation Sandra Jones  Lambeth 
Presentation on current funding 
programmes 

11/05/17 
Brent Youth 
Foundation 

Launch Ciaran Rafferty 
Wembley National 
Stadium 

Official, well-attended, launch of 
the local Youth Foundation 

15/05/17 Collaborate CIC Report Launch Sufina Ahmad 
NCVO Head Office, 
Islington 

Launch of a joint report by 
Collaborate CIC and Newcastle 
University Business School -  
commissioned by Big Lottery Fund.  
Report title: A Whole New World – 
Funding & Commissioning in 
Complexity. 

16/05/17 Dragon Awards  Panel meeting Ciaran Rafferty City Centre Initial shortlisting panel 

P
age 103



Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

16/05/17 
Association of 
Charitable 
Foundations 

Seminar Tim Wilson Camden 
A seminar run by Civitas ahead of 
their annual report on the state of 
civil society worldwide 

17/05/17 
Common Vision 
(CoVi) Think 
Tank 

Panel 
Discussion 

Sufina Ahmad City of London 

Panel discussion exploring the 
question: Responsible Tax: a 
„hygiene factor‟ or clear business 
benefit? 

18/05/17 
Charity Finance 
Group 

Annual 
Conference 

Karen Atkinson 
QEII Conference 
Centre, Westminster 

Annual Conference for finance 
specialists within charities 

18/05/17 
London 
Funders 

Children & 
Young People‟s 
Group 

Ciaran Rafferty 
LF offices, King‟s 
Cross 

Your officer chairs this funders‟ 
Interest Group 

24/05/17 
Clothworkers 
Livery 
Company 

Award 
Ceremony 

Sufina Ahmad, 
Amelia Ehren, 
Shegufta Rahman 

Clothworkers Livery 
Hall, City of London 

Charity Governance Awards, and 
Kentish Town City Farm – a CBT  
funded organisation was shortlisted 
but did not win unfortunately. 

P
age 104



Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

24/05/17 
London 
Community 
Foundation 

Meet the Funder 
Kate Moralee 
Olivia Dix 

Citi Bank – London 
wide 

Workshop on current funding 
programme and overview of future 
strategy 

25/05/17 
The Leather 
Sellers 
Company  

Presentation 
and Dinner 

David Farnsworth City of London 
Presentation on CBT activity to the 
Liverymen. 

25/05/17 Comic Relief  
Breakfast 
briefing 

Joan Millbank 
Jack Joslin 

Somerset House  Tech for Good Learning Breakfast 

25/05/17 
Flourishing 
Lives Coalition 

Conference 
Olivia Dix 
Ciaran Rafferty 

The Royal Society 
Panel discussion on future of social 
care for older people and how to 
change attitudes to older people 

25/05/17 
Cass Business 
School 

Launch Tim Wilson City of London 

The launch of a new report from 
Cass‟ Centre for Charity 
Effectiveness. “Social investment 
as a new charity finance tool: using 
both head and heart” looks at how 
civil society organisations can take 
advantage of the opportunities 
presented by the social investment 
market. 

P
age 105



Date Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location/Borough Summary 

27/05/17 
Association of 
Charitable 
Foundations 

Board meeting Tim Wilson Camden 
A board meeting. Your officer is 
one of this umbrella organisation‟s 
trustees. 

30/05/17 Corporater UK 
Panel 
Discussion 

Sufina Ahmad 
Canary Wharf, Tower 
Hamlets 

Panel discussion exploring the 
future of strategy execution and 
implementation, with the following 
speakers: Paul Niven (Consultant 
and Author), Zachary Ross 
(Google) and Tor Inge Vasshus 
(Corporater). 

31/05/17 London Youth 
Celebration 
event 

Chairman Alison 
Gowman; Ciaran 
Rafferty; Stewart 
Goshawk 

Buckingham Palace 

An event to mark 130 years of 
London Youth in the presence of 
their long-serving patron HRH The 
Duke of Edinburgh 

 

P
age 106



Document is Restricted

Page 107

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 109

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Outstanding Actions
	5 Progress Report
	6 Grant Applications - statistical summary
	7 Grants and Strategic Initiatives Recommendations and Assessments
	7a Age UK
	7b LGBT Sector Support - Positive East
	7e Oasis Children's Venture
	7f Respond
	7g Royal Court Theatre
	7h Highgate Newtown Community Centre
	7i Jacksons Lane
	7j Paintings in Hospitals
	7k Toynbee Hall
	7l Centre 70
	7m The 999 Club and Lady Florence Trust
	7n Hackney Music Development Trust
	8a Grants Recommended for Rejection
	Report - Recommended for Rejection

	8b Grants/expenditure considered under Delegated Authority
	8c Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications
	8d Variations to grants awarded
	8e Unsuccessful Stepping Stones applications
	Stepping Stones - Rejections

	8f Progress report: Prince's Trust
	8g City Bridge Trust Communications
	12 Non-Public Minutes
	13 Pipeline of Pro-Active Strategic Grants

